STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
Sep 03 2026
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Richland County

Honorable Daniel McLeod Coble, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

TELVIN QUINTAVIS JACKSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2024-001198

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LARA M. CAUDY
Senior Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Did the trial court err by denying Appellant immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act, when Appellant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that he was entitled to immunity pursuant to the Act?

2.

Did the trial court err by failing to direct a verdict of acquittal for the offense of murder when the evidence presented established Appellant shot the decedent in self-defense or in the defense of habitation?

3.

Did the trial court err by charging the jury on the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter when there was no evidence Appellant shot the decedent in the sudden heat of passion, rather the evidence showed Appellant acted in self-defense, and where Appellant was prejudiced because the jury compromised and found him guilty of voluntary manslaughter?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Richland County grand jury indicted Appellant on August 17, 2022, for the offense of murder. R. 533 – 534. A pretrial hearing was held on November 16, 2023, before the Honorable Clifton Newman on Appellant’s motion to dismiss pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act. R. 1. By order filed December 20, 2023, Judge Newman denied Appellant’s motion for immunity from prosecution. R. 124 – 136.

Appellant’s case was called to trial on June 24, 2024, before the Honorable Daniel Coble, and a jury. R. 137. Assistant Solicitors April Sampson, Christa Bell, and Keith Taylor represented the state. Tivis Sutherland represented Appellant. R. 138. On June 27, 2024, the jury acquitted Appellant of murder, but found him guilty of the lesser included offense of voluntary manslaughter. R. 475, ll. 17-25. Appellant was sentenced to twenty years imprisonment. R. 484, ll. 10-13.

On July 8, 2024, Appellant filed a motion for a new trial. R. 514 – 519. The state filed a response to Appellant’s motion for a new trial on July 9, 2024. R. 520 – 529. By order dated July 10, 2024, Judge Coble denied Appellant’s motion.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

1.

The trial court erred by denying Appellant immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act, when Appellant proved by a preponderance of the evidence that he was entitled to immunity pursuant to the Act.

Relevant Facts

Appellant testified during the pretrial immunity hearing that he was unable to work during the COVID-19 pandemic because he was an independent contractor and “we couldn’t be around each other.” Consequently, Appellant had to file for unemployment. Khamori Scott¹, the decedent, had a girlfriend or aunt who worked for the “unemployment office” and was able to “expedite the unemployment for folks.” Scott told Appellant that he would pay Appellant eight hundred dollars if Appellant referred individuals to apply for unemployment. Because Appellant was desperate for money, he did so. R. 11, l. 10 – 13, l. 5.

At some point, for whatever reason, Scott believed Appellant owed him money. Scott began calling Appellant and threatening Appellant and his wife. Scott told Appellant, “I’m going to kill you if you don’t give me my money.” Appellant repeatedly told Scott he was going to jail if he did not stop threatening and harassing Appellant and his family. R. 11, l. 23 – 14, l. 15.

On May 20, 2020, Scott showed up at Appellant’s house when Appellant was not home. However, Appellant’s wife and two young children were home. Scott threatened Appellant’s wife. Appellant did not know how to handle the situation because he was a business owner and

¹ Appellant called Scott by his nickname, “Trouble.” Appellant explained that Scott was known “in the neighborhood” as Trouble because he was “constantly getting in and out of trouble.” The nickname “just stuck.” R. 11, ll. 13- 22.

“don’t be in the streets.” Appellant was thirty minutes away and knew the police could get to his house faster. He called 911. He told the dispatcher that Scott was at Appellant’s house uninvited while Appellant was not home, that Appellant’s wife, who was home, called Appellant to report that Scott was inside the house “raising hell.” R. 11, l. 10 – 21, l. 10.

While Scott was at Appellant’s house, Scott texted Appellant, “Wya [where you at] with my shit,” “I’m not finna play with you,” and “When I catch you it’s up.” Appellant responded, “You going to jail.” Scott said, “Idgaf [I don’t give a fuck].” Appellant responded, “I’m giving the police your name now.” Scott again said, “Idgaf [I don’t give a fuck].” Appellant repeated, “You going to jail.” R. 15, l. 3 – 19, l. 21; R. 116. Appellant explained that he was on the phone with 911 when the two exchanged these text messages, which is why Appellant told Scott he was giving the police his name. R. 21, ll. 5-13.

Six days later, on the night of May 26, 2020, Appellant was sitting in his car with his friends, Brandon and Dominique. The car, which Appellant had backed in, was parked in Appellant’s driveway. Another car arrived and parked in front of Appellant’s car, blocking Appellant’s car from leaving. Scott got out of this car with a gun. He approached Appellant’s window. Appellant was “terrified” and put his hands up. Scott told Appellant, “Give me my motherfucking money.” Appellant remembered “staring that gun down the barrel.” He gave Scott all the money he had in his wallet, which was around a few hundred dollars. Scott “got mad” and threw the cash back in Appellant’s face. Brandon, who was one of Scott’s best friends, eventually stepped in between Appellant and Scott to prevent Scott from shooting Appellant. Scott threatened Appellant screaming, “I’m going to kill you, bitch-ass n*****.” Appellant said Scott “looked like he was out of his mind.” R. 21, l. 17 – 23, l. 20.

Appellant eventually noticed that the car Scott arrived in had been moved and was no longer blocking Appellant's vehicle. Appellant quickly drove to his father's house, which was only a minute or two away. Appellant believed his father's house was the closest place he could receive help. Appellant burst into his father's house and said, "Daddy, I just got robbed by Trouble" or "Daddy, call the police. I just got robbed. Trouble just robbed me." Again, Trouble was Scott's nickname. Appellant's sister immediately began asking Appellant about his wife and children. Appellant told her they were at his house. Appellant got a gun and immediately began driving back to his house. He called 911 on the way. Appellant testified that he drove slowly because he was "scared," but he "knew [he] had to be brave for [his] family." R. 23, l. 21 – 25, l. 12.

When the 911 dispatcher answered, Appellant immediately asked her to send officers to his address. He told her, "This man just robbed me in my own yard. And I have a gun. I have a gun and he's on my property. I'm about to shoot him." See Court's Exhibit No. 2. Appellant identified the robber as Scott and told the dispatcher that he had called the police about Scott before. Appellant said, "He pulled a gun on me. I'm about, about to shoot him. I just went up the street and got my damn gun. Or my family member's gun and I'm about to get him out my yard." See Court's Exhibit No. 2. Appellant explained that Scott "put a gun to my face" and stole two hundred dollars from him. He told the dispatcher that Scott was still armed and repeated that he was about to shoot Scott. See Court's Exhibit No. 2.

When Appellant arrived back at his house, he saw Scott in his yard. Appellant got out of the car with his gun pointed at Scott. He told Scott that the "police [are] on the way" and "stay right here." Appellant's call with 911 got disconnected when Appellant got out of the car likely

“because of the Bluetooth.” Scott immediately “drew his gun.”² Appellant was “scared.” He took off running toward the back of his house. As he was running, Appellant fired his gun. He did not know he had shot Scott. Appellant said he jumped the fence into his neighbor’s backyard and hid there until the police arrived. He was “terrified” and “thought [he] was going to die.” As soon as the police arrived, Appellant walked out of his neighbor’s yard with his hands in the air still holding the gun. He told the responding officer that he was the one who called the police. Appellant put his gun on the ground as instructed and was placed in the back of a patrol car.³ He begged the police to protect his family. He was “in shock” and “terrified.” R. 25, l. 14 – 27, l. 23; R. 31, l. 22 – 32, l. 25.

Appellant was transported to the sheriff’s department where he subsequently waived his Miranda rights and told investigators what happened. Appellant’s statement, which was audio and video recorded, was admitted as Court’s Exhibit No. 3 during the pretrial hearing. When Appellant was speaking with the investigators, he did not know Scott had died. When the investigators told Appellant Scott was dead, Appellant “broke down” and the interrogation

² It is undisputed that Scott had a gun. Scott’s gun was found on the ground in Appellant’s front yard when law enforcement arrived. Scott’s gun can be seen in the photographs admitted as Court’s Exhibit Nos. 4-6 during the pretrial immunity hearing, which are on file with this Court.

³ Law enforcement read Appellant his Miranda rights while he was in the backseat of the patrol car. Appellant gave a brief statement to the responding officers about what happened. This statement was captured by then Master Deputy Andrew Gayeskie’s body camera. For whatever reason, the footage of Appellant’s statement to Gayeskie was not admitted during the pretrial hearing, even though it was highly favorable to Appellant on the issue of whether Appellant should be granted immunity. However, the statement was admitted as Defense Exhibit No. 1 during Appellant’s trial over the state’s objection. See R. 248, l. 9 – 258, l. 19 and R. 273, l. 12 – 274, l. 11. During the pretrial immunity hearing, Judge Newman questioned Investigator Keenan Johnson, who took part in interrogating Appellant at the sheriff’s department, about any prior statements Appellant had made before being formally interviewed. Johnson testified that “Generally, a responding officer would’ve spoken to him [Appellant]” and that Appellant “was driven to headquarters by an officer.” However, Johnson did not know what statements Appellant had made. R. 93, ll. 7-17.

subsequently ended because Appellant could not regain his composure. Appellant testified that he did not realize he was being investigated at the time. He was simply telling his “side of the story” in the hope that Scott would “go to jail” so he would stop threatening Appellant. Appellant explained that Scott was known for “shooting up” people’s houses “and shooting at people.” R. 29, l. 1 – 31, l. 12.

During cross-examination, Appellant agreed that he could have stayed at his father’s house after Scott robbed Appellant at gunpoint on Appellant’s own property. However, Appellant explained that he returned to his house because his wife and children were there. Appellant implied that he had a duty to protect his family. He explained, “I got a family. . . my kids was there, my wife [was] there. . . as a man, the only thing I can think about is my family.” R. 38, l. 11 – 39, l. 24. The solicitor also questioned Appellant about the recorded statement he gave to investigators. Appellant told the investigators that he approached Scott (who again was in Appellant’s front yard) with a gun after Appellant returned to his house because he wanted to keep Scott there until the police arrived so that Scott could be arrested. Appellant wanted Scott to go to jail so he would stop threatening Appellant and his family. R. 68, l. 9 – 70, l. 5.

At the conclusion of the hearing, defense counsel argued that Appellant was entitled to immunity pursuant to the Act. He maintained that it was undisputed that Appellant was robbed at gunpoint in his own yard, that once Appellant’s car was no longer blocked from leaving, Appellant drove to his father’s house, that he got a gun from his sister and returned to his home where his wife and children were located, that he called 911 and told Scott (who was standing in Appellant’s front yard) that the police were on their way, that Scott pulled his firearm again, and that Appellant shot and ran away. Counsel asserted that Appellant was not at fault for bringing on the difficulty by returning to his own property after initially leaving after he was robbed at

gunpoint. Counsel stated Appellant had a right to be on his own property. He emphasized that in codifying the Castle Doctrine, the legislature “intentionally excised the duty to retreat from self-defense law for purposes of protecting a home, car, [and] person’s family.” Given this, counsel argued that “it is unreasonable to me that they [the legislature] would impose a burden on a homeowner who was able to get away initially, that they can’t return to their property that they’re entitled to protect.” R. 95, l. 3 – 96, l. 22.

Defense counsel continued, “There’s no argument against him [Appellant] being robbed in his yard. They’re [the state is] saying it’s improper that he left and returned with a firearm.” However, counsel asserted that the “situation” is covered by the Protection of Persons and Property Act and that pursuant to the Act, Appellant was permitted to return to his property, where Scott was still located, to protect his family and his property itself. Counsel further argued that Appellant was entitled to the presumption of fear provided by the Act, but regardless of this presumption, Appellant’s belief that he was in imminent danger at the time he fired was reasonable given the circumstances. R. 97, l. 1 – 98, l. 1.

The assistant solicitor argued that Appellant did not satisfy the elements of self-defense because he was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty. She maintained Appellant brought on the difficulty by returning to his property armed with a gun, approaching Scott in Appellant’s yard, and pulling a gun on Scott. As to § 16-11-440(A), the solicitor argued that Scott was not in the process of forcefully entering Appellant’s home or occupied vehicle and, therefore, that subsection of the Act did not apply. As to § 16-11-440(C), the solicitor asserted that while Appellant was in a place where he had a right to be, he was not attacked because when Appellant returned to his property, Scott was “just sitting there” and “did not pull a gun on him [Appellant] when he [Appellant] came back.” R. 98, l. 3 – 99, l. 10.

During the state's argument, the trial court appeared to express disbelief that Appellant could be at fault in bringing on the difficulty when he was on his own property. See R. 110, ll. 14-24. The court also said it was a "problem" that the court was not presented with all of Appellant's statements. R. 108, ll. 14-21. As mentioned above, for whatever reason, the court was not given the footage of Appellant's initial statement to police, which was captured by Master Deputy Andrew Gayeskie's body camera while Appellant was in the backseat of a patrol car immediately after he was detained. See R. 248, l. 9 – 258, l. 19 and R. 273, l. 12 – 274, l. 11.

The court ultimately denied Appellant immunity from prosecution.⁴ The court first addressed § 16-11-440(A). It found that Appellant was not entitled to immunity pursuant to this subsection because there was no evidence that the decedent was forcefully entering a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle. The court also found that Appellant was engaged in an unlawful activity at the time of the shooting because he was unlawfully carrying a handgun in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-20. The court stated, "There is no dispute that the Defendant left his residence, went to his father's house, and retrieved a gun that he carried unlawfully in his vehicle back to his home. He then got out of the car and pointed the gun at the victim, who at that time apparently was doing nothing to the Defendant." The court further concluded Appellant was engaged in unlawful activity at the time of the shooting because Appellant stated that he intended to use the gun to hold Scott and his friends, Brandon and Black, at Appellant's house until the

⁴ The court's findings of fact do not correctly reflect the evidence presented during the pretrial hearing regarding the "scheme" Appellant and the decedent were involved in concerning filling for unemployment. Specifically, the court stated the decedent "would refer people" to Appellant, "who would have them apply for unemployment" through Appellant's "relative, an employee at the South Carolina Department of Employment and Workforce." The court found that Appellant would then pay the decedent a "referral fee." See R. 125. However, the only evidence presented (through Appellant's testimony) was that the decedent had a relative who worked for the "unemployment office" and the decedent would pay Appellant eight hundred dollars if he referred individuals to apply for unemployment. See R. 12, l. 2 – 13, l. 9. The court reversed the roles Appellant and the decedent played in this "scheme."

police arrived. The court determined this conduct constituted kidnapping in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910 since Brandon and Black had not “done anything wrong.” R. 127-129.

The court then addressed § 16-11-440(C). It found that Appellant was not entitled to immunity pursuant to this subsection because Appellant was not being attacked “or met with force” when he shot Scott. The court determined that Scott was “not doing anything to [Appellant] when he was shot” and that Scott only drew his gun after Appellant approached Scott with a gun. The court concluded that there was no credible evidence that it was reasonable for Appellant to believe the use of deadly force was necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself and another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime. The court emphasized that Appellant testified that when he returned to his property, Scott “was there but not doing anything wrong” and that Scott “did not draw his weapon or say anything to [Appellant] until he saw that [Appellant] had a gun in his hand.” Accordingly, the court found Appellant failed to prove Scott “was still a threat” when Appellant returned. R. 129-131.

Finally, as to subsection (C), the court again found that Appellant was engaged in an unlawful activity at the time of the shooting because he was unlawfully carrying a handgun in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-20; was in the process of kidnapping Brandon and Black in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-910; and was presenting and pointing a firearm at another person in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-23-410. R. 132-133.

Lastly, the court addressed the elements of self-defense. It determined that Appellant was not without fault in bringing on the difficulty because Appellant “brought a gun to what he alleged to be an armed robbery, or in the alternative, to hold people captive, one of which he knew to be armed, who were doing nothing but sitting at their vehicles.” The court compared the facts of this case to the facts in State v. Williams, 427 S.C. 246, 830 S.E.2d 904 (2019), where

“the defendant brought a loaded, unlawfully possessed pistol to a drug deal, and when the victim attacked the defendant, he shot him.” Our Supreme Court held the trial court in Williams did not err by refusing to instruct the jury on self-defense because Williams was at fault in bringing on the difficulty. The court found “the same could be said in this case” because Appellant brought an “unlawfully possessed gun to a just completed armed robbery.” It concluded that Appellant’s actions of returning to his property and approaching Scott with a loaded gun “were not only a violation of the law, but reasonably calculated to cause the victim to respond by trying to draw his own gun.” R. 133-134.

As to the second and third elements of self-defense, the court found “there was no credible evidence presented that the victim presented a deadly threat to [Appellant] nor that a reasonably prudent person would have believed the victim presented a deadly threat.” The court reasoned that even though Scott “allegedly robbed” Appellant, when Appellant returned to his house, Scott “was doing nothing” and “there was no threat to anyone until [Appellant] approached the victim with a loaded weapon and pointed it at the victim.” While the court noted Appellant testified that he was scared, it concluded that there was “no credible evidence [Appellant] was in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury at the time of the shooting or that a reasonably prudent person of ordinary firmness and courage would have believed he was and therefore shot the victim in order to save himself from serious bodily injury or death.” R. 135.

Standard of Review

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