STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Jul 28 2026

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Richland County
Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge
Honorable Daniel Coble, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2024-001198

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

TELVIN QUINTAVIS JACKSON,

Appellant.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BYRON E. GIPSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Box 192
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 576-1800

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The immunity hearing judge did not abuse his broad discretion or otherwise err by determining Appellant failed to meet his burden of establishing he was entitled to immunity from prosecution pursuant to the South Carolina Protection of Persons and Property Act because the immunity hearing judge properly weighed and considered the evidence and testimony presented during the immunity hearing before reaching a factually-supported conclusion nothing credible had been introduced to establish Appellant was without fault for the difficulty or under attack when he left the scene of a confrontation with the victim, armed himself with a pistol, returned to scene with an expressed intention to shoot the victim, and then did just that.

Appellant contends the immunity hearing judge reversibly erred by denying his request for immunity from prosecution pursuant to the South Carolina Protection of Persons and Property Act (“the Act”). In support of that contention, Appellant maintains immunity should have been granted because he purportedly established he acted in self-defense when he shot Victim since—based on his view of the facts—he was not without fault for the difficulty, he was in actual danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, a reasonable person would have entertained the same belief, and he had no duty to retreat since he was on his own property. Appellant further maintains he was also entitled to immunity pursuant to Section 16-11-440(C) because he was in a place where he had a right to be, he was lawfully permitted to “expel a trespasser or to hold an armed robber while waiting for the police to arrive,” and he was “threatened” by Victim, who was armed. (App. Br. pp. 18-19). Contrary to Appellant’s contentions, the immunity hearing judge thoroughly evaluated the testimony and evidence presented during the immunity hearing, which included evidence establishing Appellant returned to a scene he had been able to safely leave for the expressed purpose of shooting Victim, and only denied Appellant’s immunity claim after making a factually-supported determination Appellant had failed to credibly meet his burden of establishing entitlement to immunity by a

preponderance of the evidence. Under such circumstances, the immunity hearing judge did not abuse his discretion or otherwise err by declining to grant immunity, and his legally-correct and factually-supported ruling cannot validly be disturbed on appeal. The immunity hearing judge's order denying immunity should be affirmed.

Relevant Facts

During the hearing conducted in response to Appellant's pre-trial request for immunity from prosecution, Appellant personally testified and offered an account of the events that led to him fatally shooting Victim.⁷ (Im. Tr. p. 4). Pursuant to that account, Appellant, on the night of the incident, was "chilling" with his friends "Dominique"⁸ and "Brandon"⁹ inside his vehicle, which was parked in the driveway outside his residence. (Im. Tr. pp. 21-22). Suddenly, a car pulled up in front of his vehicle, blocking it in, and then Victim—who had supposedly threatened¹⁰ Appellant only days earlier—got out of the car armed with a gun. (Im. Tr. pp. 12-18; p. 22). After that, Victim approached Appellant and demanded money¹¹ from him at

⁷ Appellant claimed Victim's nickname in the neighborhood was "Trouble" because he supposedly constantly got into trouble. (Im. Tr. p. 11).

⁸ "Dominique" was later identified as Dominique Weston. (Trl. Tr. p. 318). Unfortunately, by the time of Appellant's trial, Weston was deceased. (Trl. Tr. p. 318).

⁹ "Brandon" was eventually identified as Brandon Jenkins. (Trl. Tr. p. 319). Although investigators were able to locate Jenkins's vehicle parked outside his listed address, Jenkins himself could not be tracked down for Appellant's trial despite efforts on the part of the State to find him. (Trl. Tr. pp. 309-310; pp. 319-320).

¹⁰ To support his claim of being threatened, Appellant offered a screenshot of some text messages in which Victim advised Appellant "it's up" when he caught him and Appellant responded by stating he was giving Victim's name to the police. (Im. Tr. pp. 16-17; Im. Def. Ex. # 1 (Text Messages)).

¹¹ According to Appellant, he and Victim were involved in a scheme to obtain unemployment payments pursuant to which Appellant—at Victim's request—would refer people to the

gunpoint. (Im. Tr. p. 22). In response, Appellant gave Victim \$200 in cash, and Victim promptly threw it right back at him and threatened to kill him. (Im. Tr. p. 23; p. 54). “Brandon” then got between the two in an effort to defuse the situation, and, when he did, Appellant “noticed” the car was no longer blocking in his vehicle. (Im. Tr. p. 23). Appellant proceeded to drive to his father’s nearby home, asked his father to call the police because he had just been robbed, and was given a gun by his sister,¹² who questioned the whereabouts of Appellant’s wife and children. (Im. Tr. p. 25). Following that, Appellant called 911 himself, told the dispatcher he was going to shoot Victim,¹³ and returned home while driving slowly to wait for the police. (Im. Tr. p. 25; pp. 43-45). When he arrived home a few minutes later, Appellant got out of his vehicle, approached Victim with his gun drawn, told Victim the police were on the way, and pointed his gun at Victim. (Im. Tr. pp. 25-26; p. 31; p. 33; p. 45). Upon seeing Appellant’s gun, Victim drew his own gun, so Appellant turned his head, ran, and “guess[ed] [he] shot[.]” (Im. Tr. p. 26; pp. 32-34). Moreover, “Brandon” and “Black,”¹⁴ who were next to Victim and—according to Appellant—gang members, *also* had guns on Appellant at that time. (Im. Tr. p. 26; p. 46; p. 78). Appellant then ran toward his dog for safety and hid in his neighbor’s backyard until police arrived at the scene, which happened quickly. (Im. Tr. p. 27; p. 32).

unemployment office in exchange for \$800 from Victim, and Victim believed Appellant owed him money at that time for some unexplained reason. (Im. Tr. pp. 12-14).

¹² During his testimony, Appellant admitted he had earlier inconsistently claimed his sister’s “baby’s daddy” was actually the one who gave him the gun. (Im. Tr. p. 46).

¹³ Initially, Appellant claimed he could not remember making such a statement, but he eventually admitted he had done so when confronted with the recording of the 911 call. (Im. Tr. pp. 40-41; p. 43).

¹⁴ Again, “Black” was later identified as Antoine Robinson. (Trl. Tr. pp. 309-310; p. 320). He—like Jenkins—could not be located by the time of Appellant’s trial despite efforts on the part of the State to find him. (Trl. Tr. pp. 309-310).

In addition to offering his account of what purportedly transpired, Appellant conceded he could have stayed at his father's house or waited on the police to arrive after he called 911, and he acknowledged nothing had happened to his family by the time of the shooting. (Im. Tr. p. 38; p. 40). Appellant further admitted he had earlier told investigators he returned home that night to make sure "*they*"—meaning Victim, "Brandon," and "Black"—"didn't leave." (Im. Tr. pp. 38-39) (emphasis added). Beyond that, Appellant candidly conceded he had been mad at Victim on the date of the incident, but he also later inconsistently claimed he was actually no longer angry by the time of the shooting because he had purportedly been able to "vent" to the 911 dispatcher prior to arriving back home. (Im. Tr. p. 45; p. 63).

Along with Appellant's testimony, the recording of Appellant's call to 911 on the night of the incident was introduced into evidence and played for the immunity hearing judge. (Im. Tr. p. 41). Through that recording, the immunity hearing judge was able to hear Appellant repeatedly and angrily state he had a gun and was "about" to shoot Victim as he sped back to his residence just before he did, in fact, fatally shoot Victim. (Im. Tr. p. 43; Im. Court's Ex. # 2 (911 Call Recordings)).

The recording from Appellant's post-shooting interview at the sheriff's department was also introduced and played for the immunity hearing judge. (Im. Tr. p. 55; Im. Court's Ex. # 3). As explained by Investigator Keenan Johnson from the Richland County Sheriff's Office, Appellant's account of what transpired shifted during the course of that interview in important respects, and Appellant likewise omitted numerous details that were subsequently included in his immunity hearing testimony. (Im. Tr. pp. 84-89; Im. Court's Ex. # 3). Notably, based on what Appellant told him, Investigator Johnson indicated he was concerned by Appellant leaving the

scene to get a gun and returning to “possibly” shoot a friend who frequently visited his home. (Im. Tr. pp. 88-89).

Following the presentation of that testimony and evidence, defense counsel contended Appellant was entitled to a grant of immunity. (Im. Tr. pp. 97-98). As support for that contention, defense counsel maintained Appellant’s actions were reasonable because he was indisputably robbed¹⁵ in his own yard and, based on that, was permitted to leave and arm himself to protect his property. (Im. Tr. pp. 95-97). Defense counsel further maintained Appellant only shot Victim when Victim went for his own gun. (Im. Tr. p. 96).

Conversely, the solicitor argued Appellant was not entitled to a grant of immunity. (Im. Tr. pp. 101-102). In so arguing, the solicitor asserted none of the Act’s presumptions were applicable based on the facts involved. (Im. Tr. p. 98). Furthermore, the solicitor explained Appellant was not without fault for the difficulty since he was able to flee and, thus, could have entirely avoided what ended up happening by simply waiting for a short period of time for the police to arrive. (Im. Tr. p. 99; pp. 101; p. 104). Instead of doing so, the solicitor noted Appellant armed himself and expressly stated he was going to shoot Victim, which was inconsistent with a legitimate claim of self-defense. (Im. Tr. p. 98; p. 101). Beyond that, the solicitor pointed out Appellant’s credibility was adversely impacted by his shifting accounts of what supposedly occurred. (Im. Tr. p. 109).

¹⁵ For what it’s worth, Victim’s actions as described by Appellant—although certainly not lawful if they truly were consistent with Appellant’s description—did not legally constitute the offense of armed robbery since there was no evidence Victim intended to permanently deprive Appellant of the money he immediately threw back at Appellant. See Broom v. State, 351 S.C. 219, 221, 569 S.E.2d 336, 337 (2002) (recognizing an intent to permanently deprive the owner of the property taken in a robbery is an implicit element of both robbery and armed robbery); see also Kerrigan v. State, 304 S.C. 561, 563, 406 S.E.2d 160, 161 (1991) (“Implicit in the definition [of larceny] is an intent by the offender to permanently deprive the owner of possession by converting the property to the taker’s own use.”).

Ultimately, upon considering the matter, the immunity hearing judge denied Appellant's request for immunity. (Im. Order, p. 13). In so ruling, the immunity hearing judge expressly found Appellant's "testimony [wa]s not credible" because Appellant gave "inconsistent and different statements as to what occurred[.]" (Im. Order, p. 5). After finding Appellant not to be credible, the immunity hearing judge looked to whether Appellant had established all the elements of self-defense aside from the duty to retreat by a preponderance of the evidence and concluded he had not. (Im. Order, p. 10). Most significantly, the immunity hearing judge determined Appellant did not meet his burden of establishing he was not without fault for the difficulty because: (1) after the alleged robbery, he armed himself and stated he was going to shoot Victim; and (2) when he arrived back at the scene, he approached Victim—who was not doing anything at the time—with his gun visibly displayed and pointed it at Victim, which was an act "reasonably calculated to cause the victim to respond by trying to draw his own gun." (Im. Order, pp. 10-11). Additionally, the immunity hearing judge found no "credible" evidence was presented to establish Victim posed or reasonably appeared to pose a deadly threat to Appellant at the time of the shooting because Victim was not doing anything at the time of Appellant's return and Appellant's actions were driven only based on his fear of what Victim *might* theoretically do. (Im. Order, p. 12). Furthermore, the immunity hearing judge concluded the Act's statutory presumptions were also not applicable because: (1) no credible evidence was presented establishing either Victim was in the process of removing anyone from a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle at the time of the shooting or Victim "was still a threat" when Appellant returned to the scene; (2) Appellant was acting unlawfully at the time of the shooting because his claimed intention to hold "Brandon" and "Black" at the scene, too, constituted the offense of kidnapping and he unlawfully pointed his firearm at someone who was doing nothing

threatening at the time; and (3) Appellant was not being attacked when he approached Victim with the stated intention of shooting him and with his gun pointed at him. (Im. Order, pp. 5-7). Beyond that, the immunity hearing judge rejected Appellant’s attempt to have him “disregard what happened between the alleged armed robbery and the shooting” and “ignore the fact” Appellant left the scene, armed himself, and returned with the stated intention to shoot Victim, which he then did. (Im. Order, p. 7).

Standard of Review

In an appeal from a circuit court judge’s pre-trial determination regarding a claim of statutory immunity, an appellate court reviews the circuit court judge’s ruling for an abuse of discretion. State v. Douglas, 411 S.C. 307, 316, 768 S.E.2d 232, 237 (Ct. App. 2015); see State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013) (“[T]his court reviews [a claim of immunity under the Act] under an abuse of discretion standard of review.”). Pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard, the appellate court must affirm the circuit court judge’s immunity determination if it is supported by any evidence and not controlled by an error of law. Curry, 406 S.C. at 372, 752 S.E.2d at 267; see State v. Dennis, 447 S.C. 323, 334, 926 S.E.2d 250, 256 (2026) (“A circuit court abuses its discretion when its ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support.” (citations and internal quotations omitted)); Douglas, 411 S.C. at 316, 768 S.E.2d at 237 (“[T]he abuse of discretion standard of review does not allow this court to reweigh the evidence or second-guess the trial court’s assessment of witness credibility.”).

Analysis

Under the mandates of the Act, any law-abiding person who uses deadly force in a manner permitted by the provisions of the Act is immune from criminal prosecution for the use

of deadly force. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450(A); see S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(B) (“[I]t is proper for law-abiding citizens to protect themselves, their families, and others from intruders and attackers without fear of prosecution or civil action for acting in defense of themselves and others.”). The intent of the legislature in implementing the Act was to “codify the common law Castle Doctrine” and “to extend the doctrine to include an occupied vehicle and the person’s place of business.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-420(A). In carrying out that intention, the legislature instructed:

A person is presumed to have a reasonable fear of imminent peril of death or great bodily injury to himself or another person when using deadly force that is intended or likely to cause death or great bodily injury to another person if the person:

(1) against whom the deadly force is used is in the process of unlawfully and forcefully entering, or has unlawfully or forcibly entered a dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle, or if he removes or is attempting to remove another person against his will from the dwelling, residence, or occupied vehicle; and

(2) who uses deadly force knows or has reason to believe that an unlawful and forcible entry or unlawful and forcible act is occurring or has occurred.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(A). Additionally, the legislature further instructed:

A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C).

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